

Annual Review of Psychology

Ten Surprising Facts About Stressful Life Events and Disease Risk

Sheldon Cohen,¹ Michael L.M. Murphy,¹ and Aric A. Prather²

¹Department of Psychology, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15213, USA; email: scohen@cmu.edu, michaelmurphy@cmu.edu

²Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Francisco, California 94118, USA; email: aric.prather@ucsf.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2019. 70:577-97

First published as a Review in Advance on June 27, 2018

The *Annual Review of Psychology* is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-102857

Copyright © 2019 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved



www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

stressors, life events, health, disease

Abstract

After over 70 years of research on the association between stressful life events and health, it is generally accepted that we have a good understanding of the role of stressors in disease risk. In this review, we highlight that knowledge but also emphasize misunderstandings and weaknesses in this literature with the hope of triggering further theoretical and empirical development. We organize this review in a somewhat provocative manner, with each section focusing on an important issue in the literature where we feel that there has been some misunderstanding of the evidence and its implications. Issues that we address include the definition of a stressful event, characteristics of diseases that are impacted by events, differences in the effects of chronic and acute events, the cumulative effects of events, differences in events across the life course, differences in events for men and women, resilience to events, and methodological challenges in the literature.

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	578
THE TEN FACTS	579
Fact 1: There Is Little Agreement on the Characteristics	
that Define a Stressful Event	579
Fact 2: Stressful Events Can Impact Most Diseases	580
Fact 3: Most People Exposed to Stressful Events (Even Traumatic Events)	
Do Not Get Sick	582
Fact 4: Stressful Events Do Not Fall Randomly from the Sky	583
Fact 5: Stressful Events May Not Cause Disease in Healthy People	584
Fact 6: Certain Types of Stressful Events Are Particularly Potent	585
Fact 7: Chronic Stressful Events Are Worse than Acute Ones, Except	
When They Are Not	586
Fact 8: Multiple Events May Be More Potent than Individual Ones,	
or They May Not	587
Fact 9: Stressful Events Vary in Frequency and Potency as a Function of Where an	
Individual Is in the Life Course	588
Fact 10: Different Types of Stressful Events Influence Women and Men	589
REFLECTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	590
What We Know About Stressful Life Events and Disease Risk	590
What We Do Not Know About Stressful Life Events and Disease Risk	591

INTRODUCTION

Definitions of stress vary in their foci from objective threatening characteristics of the environment—stressful life events—to individuals' (subjective) appraisals of the threat that an environment poses for them—psychological stress—to the activation of physiological systems that support the behaviors (e.g., fight and flight) needed to respond to that threat (Cohen et al. 2016). These varying definitions have been viewed as representing different stages in a model where stressful life events that an individual appraises as threatening trigger behavioral and physiological responses with possible downstream implications for disease (Cohen et al. 2016).

In this review, we focus on major stressful life events (also called stressors). Our interest in objectively defined events is partly attributable to a substantial literature associating events with risk for, and exacerbation of, a range of diseases including depression, coronary heart disease (CHD), HIV/AIDS, asthma, autoimmune diseases, respiratory infections, and mortality (for a review, see Cohen et al. 2007), but it is also attributable to our recognition that, from a public health perspective, reducing environmental stressors may be easier and more cost effective than treating individuals' psychological or physiological responses.

We focus on events that are threats to one's social status, self-esteem, identity, or physical well-being, such as divorce, the death of a loved one, the loss of a job, being arrested, retirement, or being diagnosed with a serious illness. Much of what we know about stressful life events is derived from research using major stressful life event checklists (Monroe 2008). These scales assess the number of major events that a person reports experiencing in a defined time span, usually a year, based on the assumption that events are cumulative. That is, each event adds to the total stress burden. In contrast to the assumptions of this approach, there is also substantial evidence for an

increased risk for disease among those who have experienced a single event. Most convincing in this regard are studies that identify major threatening events using a structured interview called the Life Events and Difficulties Schedule (LEDS) (Brown & Harris 1989). In this method, the threat of an event is assessed using information garnered from the interview, and the event is rated by comparison to records (a dictionary) of ratings of similar events experienced by others previously interviewed using the LEDS. Individual events that meet a common criterion for threat (the average person would be severely threatened) are thought to be substitutable in their risk for disease, but experiencing multiple events does not increase that risk.

After over 70 years of research on the association between stressful life events and health, it is generally accepted that we have a good understanding of the role of stressors in disease risk. In this review, we highlight that knowledge but also emphasize misunderstandings and weaknesses in this literature with the hope of triggering further theoretical and empirical development. We organize this review in a somewhat provocative manner, with each section focusing on an important issue in the literature where we feel that there has been some misunderstanding of the evidence and its implications.

THE TEN FACTS

Fact 1: There Is Little Agreement on the Characteristics that Define a Stressful Event

There is a consensus among researchers that severe circumstances such as death of a spouse, sexual assault, or learning of a diagnosis of imminent death are examples of major stressful life events—events that we expect will result in psychological and physiological stress responses for the average person. Less clear is what the necessary criteria are for an event to be classified as stressful. In this section, we present four alternative theoretical perspectives on what constitutes a stressful event.

Adaptation. The first approach views the stressfulness of an event as the amount of adaptation or change it requires of an average individual (Holmes & Rahe 1967). This implies that stressful events are cumulative, with each additional event adding to the overall burden of change. It also implies that positive events (e.g., marriage, vacations) can also be stressful events if they require substantial adaptation.

Threat or harm. The second approach defines stressful events as those that are consensually seen as harmful or threatening (e.g., Brown & Harris 1989, Cohen et al. 2016). Imminence of harm, intensity, duration, and the extent to which an event is objectively uncontrollable are all factors that contribute to the potential magnitude of consensual threat (Lazarus & Folkman 1984, Rabkin & Struening 1976). As mentioned above, although the magnitude of the threat represented by different life events is often thought to be cumulative (e.g., as assumed by stressful life event checklists), there is also evidence that the maximum risk for disease occurs when a single event meets a high criterion for threat (Wethington et al. 1995), with additional events not adding to the total risk.

Demands exceed resources. The third approach arises out of the job stress literature. The underlying assumption is that a demanding situation results in psychological distress and strain when decision latitude and control over characteristics of the situation are insufficient (e.g., Karasek et al. 1981). Although this assumption is borrowed from approaches to psychological stress where psychological demands and control are each subjectively appraised by the individual (Karasek et al. 1981, Lazarus & Folkman 1984), it has also been employed as an objective assessment of job strain

through the application of consensual (e.g., the average response of workers with a specific job) or expert (supervisors') ratings of demands and control (Frese & Zapf 1988, Karasek & Theorell 1990).

Interruption of goals. Finally, the fourth approach defines stressful events as interruptions of major goals (Carver & Scheier 1999), including goals to maintain one's physical integrity and one's psychological well-being (Kemeny 2003, Lazarus & Folkman 1984). This approach is primarily rooted in evidence that interference with personal goals is associated with emotional distress, but it has not been widely studied in the prediction of illness outcomes (Carver & Scheier 1999, Wrosch et al. 2007). Goal interruption is also central to Brown & Harris's (1989) position that threat is primarily rooted in disruption of roles or plans in the context of a person's life goals. Our own view that events are threats to one's social status, self-esteem, identity, and physical well-being may also be folded in to the goal interruption theory, with each of these representing a core goal that is consensually viewed as important.

Which approach is correct? There is obvious overlap among these approaches. For example, the interruption of goals may occur when demands exceed decision latitude, and goal interruption probably generates both threat and a need to adapt. The adaptation approach has received the most direct testing of its assumptions, with only mixed results. For example, summing of judges' weights of how much change each event on a life event checklist requires is no more predictive of health outcomes than just counting the number of events, and positive events (e.g., marriage, vacation) that require adaptation are unlike negative ones in that they do not contribute to the predictability of life event checklists (Turner & Wheaton 1995).

Overall, the threat or harm approach is the most commonly accepted perspective. There is considerably less evidence addressing the validity of the demands versus control and decision latitude and goal interruption approaches. Moreover, one could argue that these two approaches are merely subsets of the threat approach. The simplicity of the adaptation approach remains attractive (Turner & Wheaton 1995), even though some key hypotheses derived from this perspective have not held up. It is a challenge for future researchers to more clearly distinguish among the sensitivities of these alternative approaches and to delineate any important differences in their predictions for the types of environmental events with the potential to influence our health and well-being.

Fact 2: Stressful Events Can Impact Most Diseases

There are a variety of mechanisms through which the experience of stressful events may influence the onset of clinically defined disease, preclinical or clinical disease progression, or both (Miller et al. 2009). The pathways linking stressful event exposure to disease that have been extensively studied include alterations in affective regulation (e.g., elevated levels of anxiety, fear, depression), health behaviors (e.g., poor nutrition, not exercising, overconsumption of alcohol, smoking cigarettes, poor sleep), and neurohormonal systems (e.g., changes in the output or tissue effects of hormones such as cortisol, testosterone, and estrogen), as well as direct innervation of tissues by the autonomic nervous system (e.g., heightened sympathetic nervous system activity resulting in increased release of norepinephrine). Modification of any of these pathways could potentially result in deleterious changes to major organs (e.g., brain, heart, liver) and bodily systems (e.g., immune, endocrine, and cardiovascular systems) (McEwen 2012). Thus, in theory, exposure to stressful events may impact any disease with an etiology involving affect regulation, health behaviors, hormones, or the autonomic nervous system. This formulation suggests that many diseases

or disease processes with multifaceted etiologies may theoretically be subject to modulation by stressor exposure. While it is outside the scope of this article to provide an extensive review of research linking stressful events to all diseases, in this section, we consider evidence for the relationships between stressor exposure and a selection of common illnesses responsible for a large proportion of morbidities, disabilities, and deaths worldwide: depression, cardiovascular disease (CVD), infectious diseases, and cancer (see also Cohen et al. 2007).

Depression. Major stressful life events prospectively predict the premorbid symptoms of depression, anxiety, and fear that are risks for depression (Gotlib & Joormann 2010, Hammen 2016, Turner et al. 1995). They also predict both the clinical onset and subsequent reoccurrences of major depressive disorder (Hammen 2005, Monroe et al. 2009). Individuals who develop depression are estimated to be between 2.5 and 9.4 times as likely to have experienced a major stressful life event prior to the first onset of depression, making recent stressor exposure one of the strongest proximal risk factors for depression in community samples (Kendler et al. 2000, Monroe et al. 2009, Slavich & Irwin 2014). Furthermore, among individuals who are depressed, stressful life events are associated with higher symptom severity, longer duration of illness, and increased likelihood of relapse (Monroe et al. 2009).

Cardiovascular diseases. Numerous mechanistic studies have documented that exposure to stressful life experiences is associated with the development of premorbid processes and states well recognized as risk factors for clinical CVD onset and progression (Steptoe & Kivimaki 2013). These factors include increased central adiposity, dysregulation of lipid and glucose levels, heightened exposure to inflammation, and elevated resting blood pressure. In line with these mechanistic studies, prospective studies have repeatedly documented that chronic stressful experiences are associated with increased risk for the development of clinical CVD (Dimsdale 2008). Moreover, experiencing chronic stressors predicts both faster progression of CVD and increased mortality from CVD (Steptoe & Kivimaki 2012). Even acute stressors can trigger adverse cardiac events, such as myocardial ischemia, cardiac arrhythmias, cardiomyopathy, and myocardial infarction, among patients with preexisting heart disease (Steptoe & Kivimaki 2013).

Infectious diseases. Infectious diseases are caused by pathogens such as viruses and bacteria. However, experiencing stressful life events, especially chronic enduring events, can increase an individual's risk of developing illness in response to exposure to an infectious agent (for a review, see Pedersen et al. 2010). Some of the most compelling evidence for the role of stressful events in increasing individuals' risk for developing illness following exposure to a pathogen comes from a series of viral challenge studies conducted by Cohen and colleagues (for an overview, see Cohen 2016). In these studies, healthy adults were experimentally exposed to a virus that causes the common cold and then quarantined and followed for 5-6 days to determine who developed a clinical illness, as manifested by infection (shedding virus) and objective signs of disease (mucus production and congestion). Within this paradigm, exposure to recent and chronic stressful life events has repeatedly been shown to increase an individual's risk of developing clinical illness following inoculation with the challenge virus. While a cold is not generally a serious illness, these findings demonstrate that host resistance to infectious agents can be reduced by stressful events. In the case of a far more serious infectious disease, naturalistic studies of HIV/AIDS conducted since the advent of highly active antiretroviral therapy have found that stressful life events, especially exposure to traumatic experiences, are associated with poorer disease outcomes, including increased viral load, higher risk of developing an opportunistic secondary infection, and increased AIDS-related mortality (Leserman 2008).

Cancer. Findings regarding whether stressful life events increase cancer risk or progression are much more equivocal than findings for the other conditions discussed above. Mechanistic laboratory studies have demonstrated a role of stressful experiences in modulating physiological processes related to cancer development (for reviews, see Antoni et al. 2006, Fagundes et al. 2017). Conversely, prospective studies of the association between stressful events and cancer onset and progression have not consistently found evidence for stressor exposure as a risk factor (for a review, see Cohen et al. 2007). However, this lack of consistent findings may be due to difficulties in conducting methodologically rigorous, well-powered cancer studies. Consistent with this notion, using meta-analytic techniques, Chida et al. (2008) found that, among studies that they coded as being high in quality, stressful life events were associated with poorer survival among samples of patients with cancer, as well as with higher mortality rates due to cancer in population samples. That being said, cancer is a heterogeneous disease, and the findings reviewed by Chida et al. were limited to only a relatively narrow set of possible cancer sites. Furthermore, the reported pooled effect sizes were modest, and the authors found evidence for significant publication bias. As such, the true nature of the association between stressor exposure and cancer remains much less clear than for the other diseases discussed above.

Theory versus data. While exposure to stressful events could theoretically impact any disease that is modulated by associated behaviors or physiology, the evidence concerning stressful events and cancer highlights a divide between what theory suggests and what data show. Health behaviors, hormones, and central nervous system activity are all known to modulate various cancers (Anderson et al. 1994, Antoni et al. 2006, Lutgendorf & Andersen 2015, Sklar & Anisman 1981). However, the strongest conclusion derived from decades of research on stressors and cancer is that stressful events may be associated with decreased cancer survival but are probably not associated with disease incidence (Chida et al. 2008). From a public health perspective, the evidence that exposure to stressful events is associated with cancer survival is interesting and important. However, it is conceptually unclear why the incidence of a disease influenced by the same pathways that are activated by exposure to stressors would not show more empirical associations with stressful experiences (but see Sklar & Anisman 1981). It is possible that this issue may simply reflect eventually surmountable methodological limitations related to studying cancer in humans (Cohen et al. 2007). Nonetheless, one area that may benefit from further development is a better accounting of what disease processes may be less subject to modulation by stressor exposure and why this might be the case.

Fact 3: Most People Exposed to Stressful Events (Even Traumatic Events) Do Not Get Sick

Despite compelling evidence that stressful events have the capacity to impair health, on the whole, most people who experience stressful events do not get sick. This is true both in the case of normative stressful events (i.e., events that happen to most of us sometime in our lifetime, such as a job loss or the loss of an important relationship) and for less common traumatic events (e.g., direct exposure to violence or abuse).

This phenomenon has been highlighted in work exposing otherwise healthy participants to a common cold virus (Cohen et al. 1998). Stressful events were assessed in a sample of 276 participants using the LEDS semistructured interview discussed above (Brown & Harris 1989). Participants were then inoculated with rhinovirus, quarantined, and tracked for the development of a biologically verified cold. As predicted, those reporting an enduring (1 month or more) stressful life event had an increased likelihood of developing a cold compared to those who did not report a

stressful life event. Only 72 of 201 participants (35.8%) without a stressful event developed a cold compared to 37 of 75 participants (49.3%) who reported a stressful event. What is often neglected when interpreting these data is that 38 of the 75 participants who reported a stressful life event (50.7%) did not develop a clinical cold.

While exposures to stressful and even traumatic events may not always result in physical illness, one would think that the occurrence of negative mental health outcomes, such as depression, would be commonplace. Interestingly, this does not appear to be the case. Although stressful life events are consistently found to be related to increased risk for depression, depression is not inevitable. Indeed, Bonanno et al. (2011) have demonstrated across various traumatic events that the majority of exposed individuals are resilient to later psychopathology. For example, in response to a loss of a spouse in later life, 13.2% of adults in the sample experienced the onset of depression following the loss, which is in stark contrast to the 68.2% who showed little to no evidence of depression over a 6-year follow-up period (Maccallum et al. 2015). The remaining percentage of the sample was made up of individuals who were depressed prior to the loss and remained depressed across the sampling frame (7.4%) and those who showed high levels of depression prior to the loss of their spouse that improved following the loss (11.2%). While the percentage of individuals who fall into these different groups vary by stressor exposure (e.g., combat exposure, medical illness, loss of a child) and by psychopathology outcome (e.g., depression, post-traumatic stress disorder), a large segment of those exposed to stressors (35-65%) do not suffer significant mental health problems as a consequence (Bonanno et al. 2011).

Why are some people resilient to stressful events? Accumulating data suggest that several individual difference measures play protective roles. In this regard, reports of greater perceived control, greater self-efficacy, and lesser negative affectivity and rumination have all been associated with psychological resilience in the face of stressful life events (reviewed in Adler & Matthews 1994, Bonanno et al. 2011). Access to social resources has also been shown to promote resilience under stressful circumstances (Cohen 2004). These resources include emotional, instrumental, and informational support. The influence of social support in buffering the negative effects of stressful events goes beyond mental health. For example, a prospective study of over 700 men followed over 7 years found that the presence of stressful events predicted increased risk of mortality only among participants reporting low emotional support. Those with high levels of emotional support were protected (Rosengren et al. 1993).

Fact 4: Stressful Events Do Not Fall Randomly from the Sky

With some limited exceptions (e.g., natural disasters, accidental deaths of friends or family members), stressful event exposures do not occur at random but instead are influenced by both individual differences in environmental circumstances and psychological characteristics. An example of a salient environmental circumstance at play here is the socioeconomic status (SES) of one's neighborhood. Compared to high-SES neighborhoods, low-SES environments are marked by more frequent and severe stressor exposures, such as overcrowding and the observation and experience of violence (Evans & Kim 2010). Individual SES can similarly influence exposure to stressful events. For example, those with lower SES are more likely to experience a divorce, death of a child, and violent assault than those with higher SES (Adler et al. 1994, Lantz et al. 2005).

Personality factors may also be hidden causes of stressor exposure. For example, divorce is more common in those whose personality is characterized by greater neuroticism or lesser conscientiousness and agreeableness (Roberts et al. 2007). In addition, some cognitive styles, such as a tendency to attribute negative events to stable, global, and internal causes, can lead individuals to experience more stressful life events. Examined primarily in the context of depression (Hammen

2006), individuals characterized by negative attributional style have been found to generate more interpersonal conflicts, leading to a greater likelihood of experiencing stressful life events, such as the loss of a close relationship (Liu & Alloy 2010). Notably, negative attachment styles, such as anxious attachment, and maladaptive coping strategies, such as avoidant coping, have also been linked to a tendency to experience more future major stressful life events (Barker 2007, Hankin et al. 2005).

Interestingly, individual stressful events themselves may trigger sequences of other events (Cohen et al. 1982, Monroe 1982). Like dominos, when one event occurs, this sets into motion a cascade of subsequent stressors that can result in a clustering of stressor exposures. An example of this could be the loss of a job. An event like this can reverberate through an individual's life, leading to exposure to multiple additional stressors, including residential relocation and increased strain in one's relationships, possibly leading to marital divorce. Divorce could lead to the loss of income, health insurance, and contacts with friends. Moreover, a single stressor can have transgenerational effects. For example, parental job loss can create stressors for children, including a need to change schools (due to relocation of their home), loss of close contacts, and possible parental separation.

Fact 5: Stressful Events May Not Cause Disease in Healthy People

As noted above, there is consistent evidence that exposure to stressful life events predicts increases in risk for disease, particularly in the case of chronic medical conditions such as CVD, asthma, and depression (Monroe et al. 2009, Steptoe & Kivimaki 2013, Wright et al. 1998). However, it is important to emphasize that stressful event exposure may not be the proximate cause of disease. That is, stressful events may not trigger the initial pathogenesis of disease in otherwise healthy people. Rather, events may influence risk for disease by either suppressing the body's ability to fight invading pathogens or exacerbating the progression of ongoing premorbid processes, resulting in the eventual onset of clinically defined disease.

We view the evidence for associations between stressful events and the onset of chronic diseases as equivocal because of the difficulty of identifying when these diseases begin. That is, in many cases, baseline (prior to the onset of the stressful event) measures of disease do not convincingly rule out the possibility of unidentified signs of illness. In turn, studies of the incidence of such diseases may actually be studies of the role of stressful events in the progression of disease, or, in some cases, may reflect preexisting disease resulting in stressor exposure. For example, coronary artery disease (CAD) is marked by the accumulation of plaques in the coronary arteries that, over time, lead to blockage and reduction in blood flow. When it is severe, a reduction in blood flow can result in cardiovascular events such as a heart attack. Although CAD was once thought to be a disease that emerged in midlife, recent research suggests that the premorbid pathogenesis of CAD can begin during the first 2 decades of life (Thurston & Matthews 2009). Thus, what appears to be stressor-triggered disease onset in midlife and older adults may actually be stressor-triggered progression of previously unidentified disease. Identifying premorbid markers of cancer at baseline involves a similar challenge, with early and premorbid disease often being difficult or impossible to detect (Cohen et al. 2007).

Exposure to stressful events can, however, exacerbate early or premorbid disease states by tipping the balance of an already vulnerable system. For example, heart attacks are a marker of the progression of CAD and occur in persons with underlying atherosclerosis. A study of the 1981 earthquake in Athens, Greece found an increased rate of fatal heart attacks on the days immediately following the earthquake compared to the days that preceded it (Trichopoulos et al. 1983). Similarly, activity from implantable cardioverter defibrillators (devices used on heart disease patients to detect and correct heart rhythm issues) was significantly higher in the 30 days following

the September 11 World Trade Center attacks than in the 30 days before (Steinberg et al. 2004). Importantly, these examples suggest that stressful events may contribute to morbidity by triggering cardiovascular events in individuals already burdened by CVD. This association also plays a role in asthma exacerbation. For example, Sandberg et al. (2000) demonstrated that, in children with chronic asthma, the occurrence of severe stressful events, such as the death of a family member or parental divorce, prospectively predicted an asthma exacerbation between 2 and 4 weeks after the event.

The assertion that stressful events may not be the proximal cause of the onset of chronic diseases derives from historical limitations in measuring premorbid and early stage disease in epidemiological studies. It is not a criticism of the wealth of evidence that stressful events can perturb key biological processes that potentially play a role in disease pathogenesis (e.g., inflammatory processes, metabolic dysregulation). In other words, we are not denying the possibility that progressive biological wear and tear that occurs with chronic or cumulative stressful life events may result in increased disease risk (Juster et al. 2010, McEwen 1998). Rather, we are suggesting that the evidence that stressful life events play a causal role in the onset of chronic diseases in otherwise healthy individuals (i.e., without existing disease) is not well supported empirically.

Fact 6: Certain Types of Stressful Events Are Particularly Potent

Not all domains of stressful life events are equally impactful when it comes to shaping an individual's health. Experiences that threaten an individual's sense of competence or status within domains that make up the individual's core identity appear to be the most costly (Cohen et al. 2016; see also Crocker & Park 2004). Events of this nature generally fall into three broad categories, although there is overlap among categories. These categories are interpersonal problems, loss of social status, and employment difficulties (in particular, un- or underemployment).

Events involving interpersonal problems can be broadly construed as threatening or harmful events that are centered around interactions or relationships with other people. Examples of interpersonal events include ongoing conflict with a spouse, friend, or coworker; a close friend moving away; and the death of a loved one. Stressful events involving other people occur less frequently than positive experiences with others; however, when negative events do occur, they tend to have a more dramatic impact on well-being and health than do positive interpersonal experiences (Rook 1998). Indeed, evidence has accumulated linking stressful interpersonal events to a variety of negative health outcomes, including heightened risk of depression, upper respiratory infection, hypertension, heart disease, physical disability, and premature mortality (Cohen et al. 1998, Kendler et al. 2003, Rook 2014, Sneed & Cohen 2014).

Interpersonal stressful life events may be problematic for health; however, it is also the case that not all events within this domain are equally potent. Mounting evidence suggests that interpersonal events that specifically threaten an individual's social status (i.e., that are high in social-evaluative threat) may be particularly noxious (Dickerson & Kemeny 2004). Examples of such events include being broken up with by a romantic partner and being intentionally excluded from social activities by one's peers. Studies have shown links between stressful events marked by loss of social status and adverse health outcomes. For example, in a large epidemiological survey, Kendler et al. (2003) found that interpersonal loss was associated with increased risk for developing depression. However, the extent to which depression risk increased depended on the nature of the loss. Individuals who had experienced the death of a loved one were at similarly elevated risk for depression as individuals who broke off the relationship with their romantic partner, whereas individuals who had been broken up with by a romantic partner showed the greatest depression risk. Relatedly, in a multiwave study of youth diagnosed with asthma, Murphy et al. (2015) found that, at study waves

when individuals reported having recently experienced social rejection, they showed decreased anti-inflammatory gene signaling and increased asthma symptoms compared to study waves when no rejection had occurred. Importantly, no such associations were found for other types of stressful life events (i.e., interpersonal events without rejection and noninterpersonal events) with similar severity ratings. Results from these studies also converge with research in nonhuman primates that documents threats to social status as a particularly pathogenic type of stressful event (e.g., Cohen et al. 1997, Manuck et al. 1995, Shively & Clarkson 1994).

Employment difficulties, especially becoming unemployed or being underemployed, have adverse implications for role identity, social status, and financial security and are also associated with deleterious health outcomes. For example, in a study that directly compared how various different types of major stressful life events influence disease risk, Cohen et al. (1998) found that unor underemployment life events lasting at least 1 month, as measured using the LEDS, were the strongest predictors of developing illness among participants experimentally exposed to a cold-causing virus (interpersonal events were the next-strongest predictors of illness). More broadly, epidemiological studies have found that becoming unemployed or underemployed increases risk for depression, CVD, and premature mortality (e.g., Dooley et al. 2000, Gallo et al. 2004, Morris et al. 1994).

Fact 7: Chronic Stressful Events Are Worse than Acute Ones, Except When They Are Not

It is generally thought that stressful life events that last a long time are more harmful than acute ones. This is because, as exposure persists, there are increased probabilities of the stressor being present at points of vulnerability in the disease process; of long-term or permanent changes in the emotional, physiological, and behavioral responses that have downstream influences on disease (Cohen et al. 2007); and of increased wear and tear on the body (e.g., allostatic load) (McEwen 2004).

However, there are dimensions of chronic events, other than duration per se, that can be important for understanding the health risks that these events pose. Chronic events include both persistent chronic stressors, such as permanent disabilities, parental discord, or chronic job stress, which persist continuously for a long time, and chronic intermittent stressors, such as conflict-filled visits to in-laws or sexual difficulties, which may occur once a day, once a week, or once a month (Cohen et al. 1982). Another type of chronic exposure involves stressor sequences, or series of events that occur over an extended period of time as the result of an initiating event such as job loss, divorce, or bereavement (Cohen et al. 1982, Monroe 1982).

When do chronic events matter? We propose that chronic events should be associated with a greater risk of facilitating disease processes than should acute events. This belief is in contrast to the adaptation hypothesis—that one adapts to stressors over time, and thus shows fewer effects with increased duration of exposure. The adaptation hypothesis is based primarily on laboratory studies where physiological responses to stressful experiences habituate rather quickly (e.g., Glass & Singer 1972), as well as on work looking at long-term adaptation to physical disability (Schulz & Decker 1985). What are the characteristics of chronic events that result in increased risk versus attenuation over time? One possibility is that continued effects of exposure to prolonged stressful experiences are more likely to occur when events are severely threatening, and habituation or adaptation is more likely to occur when they are less so. Another possibility is that the type of periodicity of the event matters, with random intermittent events inhibiting habituation and continuous or predictable intermittent events promoting adaptation (Glass & Singer 1972). A

final possibility is that the underlying biological process is key. Many stressor-elicited changes, for example in immune function (Anderson et al. 1994) and sympathetic activation (Kaplan et al. 1987, Skantze et al. 1998), may persist with the chronicity of a natural stressor; yet others, such as cortisol concentrations (Ockenfels et al. 1995), may habituate over time.

When do acute events matter? As alluded to above, although it plays less of a role in disease onset, exposure to acute (time-limited) stressful life events, such as taking an important exam, awaiting surgery, or being held up at gunpoint, are thought to play a significant role in exacerbating preexisting disease. For example, among individuals with CAD (atherosclerosis), exposure to acute life stressors is associated with a number of deleterious cardiovascular outcomes such as reduced oxygen delivery to the heart, which, when extreme, results in the death of heart tissue—a heart attack or myocardial infarction (Rozanski et al. 1999). Similarly, among those with asthma (underlying inflammation of the airways), acute events can trigger asthma attacks (Wright et al. 1998).

Others (Baum et al. 1993) have emphasized that traumatic events like rape or physical assault may last a short time but still have long-term effects on risk for disease. They suggest that the impact of a stressful event should be determined not only by the duration of the event, but also by the durations of the ensuing appraisal process, the affective response to the event, and the stress-related physical effects.

Fact 8: Multiple Events May Be More Potent than Individual Ones, or They May Not

Above, we mention that both definitions of stressful life events that focus on adaptation and those that focus on threat suggest the possibility that the risk associated with stressful life events is cumulative. Unexpectedly, research with stressful life event checklists that merely count the number of events that occurred during the previous year results in as good predictions of health outcomes as summing change or threat weights assigned to the events by judges (Turner & Wheaton 1995). Thus, it is true that the more events occur, the greater is the risk, but at the same time, the data do not provide direct evidence that this effect is due to the amount of change or threat that is accumulating.

In contrast, as noted above, research using the LEDS interview suggests that experiencing a single event that meets a moderate or severe threat criterion is sufficient to put people at risk, but that experiencing multiple events does not further increase that risk (Brown & Harris 1989, Wethington et al. 1995). A possible explanation for the LEDS interview's finding that single events predict health outcomes is that the life event checklists may not be doing a good job of defining the content of events. For example, is a divorce that leads to residential relocation and loss of income one event or three? Similarly, are conflicts at work, being underpaid at work, and being overloaded at work separate events, or do they all represent a single bad work environment? The LEDS takes into account the context in which events occur, probably resulting in single events, as assessed by the LEDS, representing multiple events on a life events checklist. Some recent life events checklists have had success with aggregating events into domains (e.g., financial events, legal events, career events, relationships, safety in the home, and medical issues) and counting the number of domains in which someone is experiencing stressors, rather than the number of events across domains (Lee et al. 2017, Shalowitz et al. 1998). Creating domains may better represent the experience of correlated events.

A related question is whether chronic background stressors, e.g., marital discord or a bad work environment, make one more or less responsive to the occurrence of acute events. The hypothesis that exposure to chronic events results in sensitization has been supported by studies of the impact

of acute stressors when there is a background of chronic stress on the symptoms and signs of disease in asthmatic children (e.g., Marin et al. 2009; Sandberg et al. 2000, 2004) and on depression among caregivers for the chronically ill (Kiecolt-Glaser et al. 1988); however, this hypothesis has received only mixed support in studies of biomarker responses to acute laboratory stressors in those suffering chronic background stress (Gump et al. 1999). The variability in results could be attributed to multiple differences between studies, for example, differences in definitions of what constitutes a chronic event, whether the chronic event has been resolved or not, the relationship between the domain of the chronic stressful event and the domain of the acute stressor, and the acute stressor study outcome (most outcomes studied in the laboratory are cardiovascular).

Overall, it is impossible at this point to know whether increases in the number of events increases risk for disease. This is because there is no overall agreement as to what constitutes an event. It is not clear whether an event needs to meet a threshold of threat or adaptation, whether events that cluster together (e.g., divorce and moving) should be considered a single experience or multiple ones, or whether event domains are a better way of defining the stress experiences than the occurrence of single events. Studies providing better comparisons of these possibilities would help in providing a clearer answer to this question.

Fact 9: Stressful Events Vary in Frequency and Potency as a Function of Where an Individual Is in the Life Course

There is substantial variability in individuals' day-to-day lives. However, structured around this variability are predictable life events that make up the typical life course. These events are common in the population, routinely happen during a particular life stage, and are consistent with sociocultural norms (Schulz & Rau 1985). Examples of such events include finishing school, getting married, and having a child during the earlier adult years and retirement from the workforce and the death of a spouse during the later adult years. Individuals have expectations about when such events are supposed to happen, and violations of these expectations can have deleterious consequences for health and well-being. To illustrate, consider the death of a spouse. Losing a loved one can represent a stressful event regardless of age (Bonanno & Kaltman 1999). Yet as painful as the death of a spouse might be, such an event is more normative among older adults relative to the same loss experienced earlier in the life course. As a result, losing a spouse should be more strongly associated with negative outcomes when it occurs earlier in life than when it occurs in later decades. Consistent with this formulation, meta-analytic evidence shows that the age at which individuals lose a spouse moderates mortality risk, with the association between stress and mortality being stronger among younger individuals than among older individuals (Shor et al. 2012). Violations of expectations of when normative events should happen also include situations where expected events do not occur; for example, not graduating high school, not getting married, or not being promoted at expected times have the potential to exert similar pathogenic effects as stressful life events that do occur (Schulz & Rau 1985).

In addition to expectations around when particular types of stressful events should or should not happen over the life course, there is evidence that there are sensitive periods of life when stressful events may exact a more pronounced and long-lasting toll on health. Childhood appears to be a particularly important sensitive period, with numerous studies linking adverse childhood experiences to increased risk of developing chronic illnesses later in life, as well as increased mortality risk (e.g., Anda et al. 2009, Norman et al. 2012, Wegman & Stetler 2009). Adverse childhood experiences are generally conceptualized as stressful early life events comprising both ongoing difficulties (e.g., parental abuse or neglect) and acute time-limited exposures with long-term threat implications (e.g., witnessing a violent crime or being sexually assaulted). Experiencing

adversity during childhood may set an individual on a trajectory to being exposed to more stressors over the life course, and such excess exposure may subsequently increase disease risk (Pearlin et al. 2005). Furthermore, adverse childhood experiences are also thought to increase risk for negative health outcomes later in life by generating enduring changes in both biological processes and behavioral proclivities (Repetti et al. 2002, Taylor 2010). In some cases, such changes may confer shorter-term adaptive advantages to individuals in the context of the adverse childhood environment. However, these shorter-term advantages may come at a cost with regards to later-life disease risk (Cohen et al. 1986, Danese & McEwen 2012, Miller et al. 2011).

Fact 10: Different Types of Stressful Events Influence Women and Men

Underlying physiological differences between the biological sexes, along with differential evolutionary pressures, play a role in shaping men's and women's physiological and behavioral responses to stressful experiences (Bale & Epperson 2015, Taylor et al. 2000). However, the extent to which men and women differ in the types of stressful events that they are exposed to is thought to be driven more by differences in socialized gender roles than by underlying physiology. As reviewed by Dedovic et al. (2009), in Western cultures, men are historically more likely than women to be encouraged from an early age to develop self-focused agentic goals (e.g., getting a good job). Conversely, women are more likely than men to be encouraged to develop socially interdependent communal goals (e.g., taking care of a family). These differently cultivated goal motivations ultimately shape the sorts of experiences that young men and women seek as they develop into adolescents and adults. As a result, the types of stressful events that men and women experience should theoretically vary as a function of gender socialization.

Consistent with the idea that socialized gender roles predispose men and women to different stressful events, researchers have argued that men are more likely to be exposed to achievement-related stressful experiences such as unemployment, while women are more likely to be exposed to interpersonal stressful experiences such as caregiving (for a review, see Helgeson 2011). Moreover, whereas men tend to only report stressful events that occur directly to them, women are more likely to also report exposure to stressful events that occur to close others (Kessler & McLeod 1984, Turner et al. 1995). However, while this theoretical orientation predicting differential patterning of stressful life experiences as a function of gender continues to permeate the literature, it may not be consistent with available data. In particular, a meta-analysis of 119 studies published between 1960 and 1996 found that women consistently reported greater exposure to stressful events than men across domains, including in both interpersonal and work domains (Davis et al. 1999). It is possible that changing sociocultural norms regarding women in the workplace have closed the gap in work-related stressor exposure, as women place more importance on employment and financial success now than they did in the past (e.g., McLeod et al. 2016).

There are fewer studies addressing the extent to which gender differences in exposure to stressful life events are associated with differential vulnerability to illnesses. The clearest evidence for differential vulnerability comes from studies examining sex disparities in depression risk (Hammen 2005). While depression risk is similar between males and females during childhood, starting during adolescence, females' risk for depression increases relative to males, a pattern that remains consistent well into adulthood (Cyranowski et al. 2000). This finding is thought to be due at least in part to women developing more sensitivity to what is happening within their social networks and thus being exposed to more interpersonal stressful life events than men (Helgeson 2011, Kessler & McLeod 1984). Importantly, exposure to interpersonal events tends to be more strongly associated with depression onset for women than for men (Hammen 2005). Interestingly, women's heightened vulnerability to depression following stressful events may also help explain

why, compared to men, women tend to experience worse clinical outcomes due to morbidities modulated by depression, such as CVD and metabolic diseases (for reviews, see Low et al. 2010; Möller-Leimkühler 2008, 2010; Murphy & Loria 2017).

REFLECTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

What We Know About Stressful Life Events and Disease Risk

What we can be sure of is that stressful life events predict increases in severity and progression of multiple diseases, including depression, cardiovascular diseases, HIV/AIDS, asthma, and autoimmune diseases. Although there is also evidence for stressful events predicting disease onset, challenges in obtaining sensitive assessments of premorbid states at baseline (for example, in cancer and heart disease) make interpretation of much of these data as evidence for onset less compelling.

In general, stressful life events are thought to influence disease risk through their effects on affect, behavior, and physiology. These effects include affective dysregulation such as increases in anxiety, fear, and depression. Additionally, behavioral changes occurring as adaptations or coping responses to stressors, such as increased smoking, decreased exercise and sleep, poorer diets, and poorer adherence to medical regimens, provide important pathways through which stressors can influence disease risk. Two endocrine response systems, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis and the sympathetic-adrenal-medullary (SAM) system, are particularly reactive to psychological stress and are also thought to play a major role in linking stressor exposure to disease. Prolonged or repeated activation of the HPA axis and SAM system can interfere with their control of other physiological systems (e.g., cardiovascular, metabolic, immune), resulting in increased risk for physical and psychiatric disorders (Cohen et al. 1995b, McEwen 1998).

Chronic stressor exposure is considered to be the most toxic form of stressor exposure because chronic events are the most likely to result in long-term or permanent changes in the emotional, physiological, and behavioral responses that influence susceptibility to and course of disease. These exposures include those to stressful events that persist over an extended duration (e.g., caring for a spouse with dementia) and to brief focal events that continue to be experienced as overwhelming long after they have ended (e.g., experiencing a sexual assault). Even so, acute stressors seem to play a special role in triggering disease events among those with underlying pathology (whether premorbid or morbid), such as asthma and heart attacks.

One of the most provocative aspects of the evidence linking stressful events to disease is the broad range of diseases that are presumed to be affected. As discussed above, the range of effects may be attributable to the fact that many behavioral and physiological responses to stressors are risk factors for a wide range of diseases. The more of these responses to stressful events are associated with risk for a specific disease, the greater is the chance that stressful events will increase the risk for the onset and progression of that disease. For example, risk factors for CVD include many of the behavioral effects of stressors (poor diet, smoking, inadequate physical activity). In addition, stressor effects on CVD (Kaplan et al. 1987, Skantze et al. 1998) and HIV (Capitanio et al. 1998, Cole et al. 2003) are mediated by physiological effects of stressors (e.g., sympathetic activation, glucocorticoid regulation, and inflammation).

It is unlikely that all diseases are modulated by stressful life event exposure. Rare conditions, such as those that are genetic and of high penetrance, leave little room for stressful life events to play a role in disease onset. For example, Tay-Sachs disease is an autosomal recessive disorder expressed in infancy that results in destruction of neurons in both the spinal cord and brain. This disease is fully penetrant, meaning that, if an individual carries two copies of the mutation in the *HEXA* gene, then they will be affected. Other inherited disorders, such as Huntington's disease,

show high penetrance but are not fully penetrant, leaving room for environmental exposures, behavioral processes, and interactions among these factors to influence disease onset. Note that, upon disease onset, it is unlikely that any disease is immune to the impact of stressor exposure if pathways elicited by the stressor are implicated in the pathogenesis or symptom course of the disease.

What We Do Not Know About Stressful Life Events and Disease Risk

There are still a number of key issues in understanding how stressful events might alter disease pathogenesis where the data are still insufficient to provide clear answers. These include the lack of a clear conceptual definition of what constitutes a stressful event. Alternative approaches (adaptation, threat, goal interruption, demand versus control) overlap in their predictions, providing little leverage for empirically establishing the unique nature of major stressful events. The lack of understanding of the primary nature of stressful events also obscures the reasons for certain events (e.g., interpersonal, economic) being more potent.

Two other important questions for which we lack consistent evidence are whether the stress load accumulates with each additional stressor and whether previous or ongoing chronic stressors moderate responses to current ones. The nature of the cumulative effects of stressors is key to obtaining sensitive assessments of the effects of stressful events on disease and for planning environmental (stressor-reduction) interventions to reduce the impact of events on our health.

Evidence that single events may be sufficient to trigger risk for disease has raised two important questions. First, are some types of events more potent than others? We address this question above (in the section titled Fact 6: Certain Types of Stressful Events Are Particularly Potent) using the existing evidence, but it is important to emphasize the relative lack of studies comparing the impact of different stressors on the same outcomes (for some exceptions, see Cohen et al. 1998, Kendler et al. 2003, Murphy et al. 2015). Second, are specific types of events linked to specific diseases? This question derives from scattered evidence of stressors that are potent predictors of specific diseases [e.g., social loss for depression (Kendler et al. 2003), work stress for CHD (Kivimäki et al. 2006)] and of specific stress biomarkers [e.g., threats to social status leading to cortisol responses (Denson et al. 2009, Dickerson & Kemeny 2004)]. While it is provocative, there are no direct tests of the stressor-disease specificity hypothesis. A proper examination of this theory would require studies that not only conduct broad assessments of different types of stressful life events, but also measure multiple unique diseases to draw comparisons. Such studies may not be feasible due to the high costs of properly assessing multiple disease outcomes and the need for large numbers of participants to obtain sufficient numbers of persons developing (incidence) or initially having each disease so as to measure progression. Comparisons of limited numbers of diseases proposed to have different predictors (e.g., cancer and heart disease) are more efficient and may be a good initial approach to this issue.

Another area of weakness is the lack of understanding of the types of stressful events that are most salient at different points in development. For example, although traumatic events are the type of events studied most often in children, the relative lack of focus on more normative events leaves us with an incomplete understanding of how different events influence the current and later health of young people. Overall, the relative lack of comparisons of the impact of the same events (or equivalents) across the life course further muddies our understanding of event salience as we age.

It is noteworthy that the newest generation of instruments designed to assess major stressful life events has the potential to provide some of the fine-grained information required to address many of the issues raised in this review (for a review, see Anderson et al. 2010; see also Epel

et al. 2018). For example, the Life Events Assessment Profile (LEAP) (Anderson et al. 2010) is a computer-assisted, interviewer-administered measure designed to mimic the LEDS. Like the LEDS, the LEAP assesses events occurring within the past 6–12 months, uses probing questions to better define events, assesses exposure duration, and assigns objective levels of contextual threat based on LEDS dictionaries. Another instrument, the Stress and Adversity Inventory (STRAIN) (Slavich & Shields 2018), is a participant-completed computer assessment of lifetime cumulative exposure to stressors. The STRAIN assesses a range of event domains and timing of events (e.g., early life, distant, recent) and uses probing follow-up questions. Both the LEAP and the STRAIN are less expensive and time consuming than the LEDS and other interview techniques and are thus more amenable to use in large-scale studies.

The fundamental question of whether stressful events cause disease can only be rigorously evaluated by experimental studies. Ethical considerations prohibit conducting experimental studies in humans of the effects of enduring stressful events on the pathogenesis of serious disease. A major limitation of the correlational studies is insufficient evidence of (and control for) selection in who gets exposed to events, resulting in the possibility that selection factors such as environments, personalities, or genetics are the real causal agents. The concern is that the social and psychological characteristics that shape what types of stressful events people are exposed to may be directly responsible for modulating disease risk. Because it is not possible to randomly assign people to stressful life events, being able to infer that exposure to stressful events causally modulates disease will require the inclusion of covariates representing obvious individual and environmental confounders, as well as controls for stressor dependency—the extent to which individuals are responsible for generating the stressful events that they report.

Even with these methodological limitations, there is evidence from natural experiments that capitalize on real-life stressors occurring outside of a person's control, such as natural disasters, economic downsizing, or bereavement (Cohen et al. 2007). There have also been attempts to reduce progression and recurrence of disease using experimental studies of psychosocial interventions. However, clinical trials in this area tend to be small, methodologically weak, and not specifically focused on determining whether stress reduction accounts for intervention-induced reduction in disease risk. Moreover, trials that do assess stress reduction as a mediator generally focus on the reduction of nonspecific perceptions of stress and negative affect instead of on the elimination or reduction of the stressful event itself. In contrast, evidence from prospective cohort studies and natural experiments is informative. These studies typically control for a set of accepted potentially confounding demographic and environmental factors such as age, sex, race or ethnicity, and SES. It is also informative that the results of these studies are consistent with those of laboratory experiments showing that stress modifies disease-relevant biological processes in humans and with those of animal studies that investigate stressors as causative factors in disease onset and progression (Cohen et al. 2007).

Despite many years of investigation, our understanding of resilience to stressful life events is incomplete and even seemingly contradictory (e.g., Brody et al. 2013). Resilience generally refers to the ability of an individual to maintain healthy psychological and physical functioning in the face of exposure to adverse experiences (Bonanno 2004). This definition suggests that when a healthy individual is exposed to a stressful event but does not get sick and continues to be able to function relatively normally, this person has shown resilience. What is less clear is whether there are certain types of stressful events for which people tend to show greater resilience than for others. It seems likely that factors that increase stressor severity, such as imminence of harm, uncontrollability, and unpredictability, also decrease an event's potential to be met with resilience. Additionally, it may be possible that stressful events that are more commonly experienced are easier to adapt to due to shared cultural experiences that provide individuals with expectations for how to

manage events. Conversely, less common events (e.g., combat exposure) or experiences that carry significant sociocultural stigma (e.g., rape) might be less likely to elicit resilience. As efforts to test interventions to promote resilience continue to be carried out, careful characterizations of stress exposures, including the complexities discussed in this review, will be critical to understanding the heterogeneity in physical and mental health outcomes associated with stressful life events.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (AT006694) and the National Institute on Aging (R24AG048024). The authors thank Thomas Kamarck for his helpful comments on an earlier draft of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

- Adler N, Matthews K. 1994. Health psychology: Why do some people get sick and some stay well? *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 45:229–59
- Adler NE, Boyce T, Chesney MA, Cohen S, Folkman S, et al. 1994. Socioeconomic status and health: the challenge of the gradient. *Am. Psychol.* 49:15–24
- Anda RF, Dong MX, Brown DW, Felitti VJ, Giles WH, et al. 2009. The relationship of adverse childhood experiences to a history of premature death of family members. *BMC Public Health* 9:106
- Anderson B, Wethington E, Kamarck TW. 2010. Interview assessment of stressor exposure. In The Handbook of Stress Science: Biology, Psychology, and Health, ed. RJ Contrada, A Baum, pp. 565–82. Berlin: Springer
- Anderson BL, Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Glaser R. 1994. A biobehavioral model of cancer stress and disease course. Am. Psychol. 49:389–404
- Antoni MH, Lutgendorf SK, Cole SW, Dhabhar FS, Sephton SE, et al. 2006. The influence of bio-behavioural factors on tumour biology: pathways and mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 6:240–48
- Bale TL, Epperson CN. 2015. Sex differences and stress across the lifespan. Nat. Neurosci. 18:1413-20
- Barker DB. 2007. Antecedents of stressful experiences: depressive symptoms, self-esteem, gender, and coping. Int. J. Stress Manag. 14:333–49
- Baum A, Cohen L, Hall M. 1993. Control and intrusive memories as possible determinants of chronic stress. Psychosom. Med. 55:274–86
- Bonanno GA. 2004. Loss, trauma, and human resilience: Have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *Am. Psychol.* 59:20–28
- Bonanno GA, Kaltman S. 1999. Toward an integrative perspective on bereavement. Psychol. Bull. 125:760–76Bonanno GA, Westphal M, Mancini AD. 2011. Resilience to loss and potential trauma. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 7:511–35
- Brody GH, Yu T, Chen E, Miller GE, Kogan SM, Beach SRH. 2013. Is resilience only skin deep? Rural African Americans' socioeconomic status-related risk and competence in preadolescence and psychological adjustment and allostatic load at age 19. Psychol. Sci. 24:1285–93
- Brown GW, Harris TO. 1989. Life Events and Illness. New York: Guilford Press
- Capitanio JP, Mendoza SP, Lerche NW, Mason WA. 1998. Social stress results in altered glucocorticoid regulation and shorter survival in simian acquired immune deficiency syndrome. PNAS 95:4714–19
- Carver CS, Scheier MF. 1999. Stress, coping, and self-regulatory processes. In *Handbook of Personality*, ed. LA Pervin, OP John, pp. 553–75. New York: Guilford Press
- Chida Y, Hamer M, Wardle J, Steptoe A. 2008. Do stress-related psychosocial factors contribute to cancer incidence and survival? Nat. Clin. Pract. Oncol. 5:466–75

- Cohen F, Horowitz MJ, Lazarus RS, Moos RH, Robins LN, et al. 1982. Panel report on psychosocial assets and modifiers of stress. In *Stress and Human Health: Analysis and Implication of Research*, ed. GR Elliott, C Eisdorfer, pp. 147–88. Berlin: Springer
- Cohen S. 2004. Social relationships and health. Am. Psychol. 59:676-84
- Cohen S. 2016. Psychological stress, immunity, and physical disease. In Scientists Making a Difference: The Greatest Living Behavioral and Brain Scientists Talk About Their Most Important Contributions, ed. R Sternberg, F Fiske, D Foss, pp. 419–23. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Cohen S, Evans GW, Stokols D, Krantz D. 1986. Behavior, Health, and Environment Stress. New York: Plenum Press
- Cohen S, Frank E, Doyle WJ, Skoner DP, Rabin BS, Gwaltney JM. 1998. Types of stressors that increase susceptibility to the common cold in healthy adults. *Health Psychol*. 17:214–23
- Cohen S, Gianaros PJ, Manuck SB. 2016. A stage model of stress and disease. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 11:456-63
- Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts D, Miller GE. 2007. Psychological stress and disease. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 298:1685–87
- Cohen S, Kessler RC, Gordon LU. 1995a. Measuring Stress: A Guide for Health and Social Scientists. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Cohen S, Kessler RC, Gordon LU. 1995b. Strategies for measuring stress in studies of psychiatric and physical disorders. See Cohen et al. 1995a, pp. 3–26
- Cohen S, Line S, Manuck SB, Rabin BS, Heise ER, Kaplan JR. 1997. Chronic social stress, social status, and susceptibility to upper respiratory infections in nonhuman primates. *Psychosom. Med.* 59:213–21
- Cole SW, Kemeny ME, Fahey JL, Zack JA, Naliboff BD. 2003. Psychological risk factors for HIV pathogenesis: mediation by the autonomic nervous system. Biol. Psychiatry 54:1444–56
- Crocker J, Park LE. 2004. The costly pursuit of self-esteem. Psychol. Bull. 130:392-414
- Cyranowski JM, Frank E, Young E, Shear K. 2000. Adolescent onset of the gender difference in lifetime rates of major depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 57:21–27
- Danese A, McEwen BS. 2012. Adverse childhood experiences, allostatic load, and age-related disease. Physiol. Behav. 106:29–39
- Davis MC, Matthews KA, Twamley EW. 1999. Is life more difficult on Mars or Venus? A meta-analytic review of sex differences in major and minor life events. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 21:83–97
- Dedovic K, Wadiwalla M, Engert V, Pruessner JC. 2009. The role of sex and gender socialization in stress reactivity. *Dev. Psychol.* 45:45–55
- Denson TF, Spanovic M, Miller N. 2009. Cognitive appraisals and emotions predict cortisol and immune responses: a meta-analysis of acute laboratory social stressors and emotion inductions. *Psychol. Bull.* 135: 823–53
- Dickerson SS, Kemeny ME. 2004. Acute stressors and cortisol responses: a theoretical integration and synthesis of laboratory research. *Psychol. Bull.* 130:355–91
- Dimsdale JE. 2008. Psychological stress and cardiovascular disease. 7. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51:1237-46
- Dooley D, Prause J, Ham-Rowbottom KA. 2000. Underemployment and depression: longitudinal relationships. 7. Health Soc. Behav. 41:421–36
- Epel ES, Crosswell AD, Mayer SE, Prather AA, Slavich GM, et al. 2018. More than a feeling: a unified view of stress measurement for population science. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 49:146–69
- Evans GW, Kim P. 2010. Multiple risk exposure as a potential explanatory mechanism for the socioeconomic status-health gradient. In *The Biology of Disadvantage: Socioeconomic Status and Health*, ed. NE Adler, J Stewart, pp. 174–89. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Fagundes CP, Murdock KW, Chirinos DA, Green PA. 2017. Biobehavioral pathways to cancer incidence, progression, and quality of life. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 26:548–53
- Frese M, Zapf D. 1988. Methodological issues in the study of work stress: objective versus subjective measurement of work stress and the question of longitudinal studies. In *Causes, Coping and Consequences of Stress at Work*, ed. CL Cooper, R Payne, pp. 375–411. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Gallo WT, Bradley EH, Falba TA, Dubin JA, Cramer LD, et al. 2004. Involuntary job loss as a risk factor for subsequent myocardial infarction and stroke: findings from the Health and Retirement Survey. Am. 7. Ind. Med. 45:408–16
- Glass DC, Singer JE. 1972. Urban Stress. Cambridge, MA: Academic

- Gotlib IH, Joormann J. 2010. Cognition and depression: current status and future directions. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 6:285–312
- Gump BB, Matthews KA, Räikkönen K. 1999. Modeling relationships among socioeconomic status, hostility, cardiovascular reactivity, and left ventricular mass in African American and White children. *Health Psychol*. 18:140–50
- Hammen C. 2005. Stress and depression. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 1:293-319
- Hammen C. 2006. Stress generation in depression: reflections on origins, research, and future directions. 7. Clin. Psychol. 62:1065–82
- Hammen C. 2016. Depression and stressful environments: identifying gaps in conceptualization and measurement. *Anxiety Stress Coping* 29:335–51
- Hankin BL, Kassel JD, Zbela JRZ. 2005. Adult attachment dimensions and specificity of emotional distress symptoms: prospective investigations of cognitive risk and interpersonal stress generation as mediating mechanisms. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 31:136–51
- Helgeson VS. 2011. Gender, stress, and coping. In The Oxford Handbook of Stress, Health, and Coping, ed. S Folkman, pp. 63–85. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Holmes TH, Rahe RH. 1967. The social readjustment rating scale. 7. Psychosom. Res. 11:213-18
- Juster RP, McEwen BS, Lupien SJ. 2010. Allostatic load biomarkers of chronic stress and impact on health and cognition. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35:2–16
- Kaplan JR, Manuck SB, Adams MR, Weingand KW, Clarkson TB. 1987. Inhibition of coronary atherosclerosis by propranolol in behaviorally predisposed monkeys fed an atherogenic diet. Circulation 76:1364–72
- Karasek R, Baker D, Marxer F, Ahlbom A, Theorell T. 1981. Job decision latitude, job demands, and cardio-vascular disease: a prospective study of Swedish men. Am. 7. Public Health 71:694–705
- Karasek R, Theorell T. 1990. Healthy Work: Stress, Productivity, and the Reconstruction of Working Life. New York: Basic Books
- Kemeny ME. 2003. The psychobiology of stress. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 12:124–29
- Kendler KS, Hettema JM, Butera F, Gardner CO, Prescott CA. 2003. Life event dimensions of loss, humiliation, entrapment, and danger in the prediction of onsets of major depression and generalized anxiety. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 60:789–96
- Kendler KS, Thornton LM, Gardner CO. 2000. Stressful life events and previous episodes in the etiology of major depression in women: an evaluation of the "kindling" hypothesis. *Am. 7. Psychiatry* 157:1243–51
- Kessler RC, McLeod JD. 1984. Sex differences in vulnerability to undesirable life events. Am. Sociol. Rev. 49:620–31
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Dyer CS, Shuttleworth EC. 1988. Upsetting social interactions and distress among Alzheimer's disease family care-givers: a replication and extension. *Am. J. Community Psychol.* 16:825–37
- Kivimäki M, Virtanen M, Elovainio M, Kouvonen A, Väänänen A, Vahtera J. 2006. Work stress in the etiology of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Scand. 7. Work Environ. Health 32:431–42
- Lantz PM, House JS, Mero RP, Williams DR. 2005. Stress, life events, and socioeconomic disparities in health: results from the Americans' changing lives study. J. Health Soc. Behav. 46:274–88
- Lazarus RS, Folkman S. 1984. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. Berlin: Springer
- Lee AG, Chiu Y-HM, Rosa MJ, Cohen S, Coull BA, et al. 2017. Association of prenatal and early childhood stress with reduced lung function in 7-year-olds. *Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 119:153–59
- Leserman J. 2008. Role of depression, stress, and trauma in HIV disease progression. *Psychosom. Med.* 70: 539–45
- Liu RT, Alloy LB. 2010. Stress generation in depression: a systematic review of the empirical literature and recommendations for future study. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30:582–93
- Low CA, Thurston RC, Matthews KA. 2010. Psychosocial factors in the development of heart disease in women: current research and future directions. Psychosom. Med. 72:842–54
- Lutgendorf SK, Andersen BL. 2015. Biobehavioral approaches to cancer progression and survival. Am. Psychol. 70:186–97
- Maccallum F, Galatzer-Levy IR, Bonanno GA. 2015. Trajectories of depression following spousal and child bereavement: a comparison of the heterogeneity in outcomes. 7. Psychiatr. Res. 69:72–79
- Manuck SB, Marsland AL, Kaplan JR, Williams JK. 1995. The pathogenicity of behavior and its neuroen-docrine mediation: an example from coronary artery disease. *Psychosom. Med.* 57:275–83

- Marin TJ, Chen E, Munch JA, Miller GE. 2009. Double-exposure to acute stress and chronic family stress is associated with immune changes in children with asthma. *Psychosom. Med.* 71:378–84
- McEwen BS. 1998. Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. N. Engl. 7. Med. 338:171-79
- McEwen BS. 2004. Protection and damage from acute and chronic stress: allostasis and allostatic overload and relevance to the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1032:1–7
- McEwen BS. 2012. Brain on stress: how the social environment gets under the skin. PNAS 109:17180-85
- McLeod GFH, Horwood LJ, Fergusson DM, Boden JM. 2016. Life-stress and reactivity by gender in a longitudinal birth cohort at 30 and 35 years. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 51:1385–94
- Miller GE, Chen E, Cole SW. 2009. Health psychology: developing biologically plausible models linking the social world and physical health. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 60:501–24
- Miller GE, Chen E, Parker KJ. 2011. Psychological stress in childhood and susceptibility to the chronic diseases of aging: moving toward a model of behavioral and biological mechanisms. *Psychol. Bull.* 137:959–97
- Möller-Leimkühler AM. 2008. Women with coronary artery disease and depression: a neglected risk group. World 7. Biol. Psychiatry 9:92–101
- Möller-Leimkühler AM. 2010. Higher comorbidity of depression and cardiovascular disease in women: a biopsychosocial perspective. *World J. Biol. Psychiatry* 11:922–33
- Monroe SM. 1982. Life events assessment: current practices, emerging trends. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 2:435-53
- Monroe SM. 2008. Modern approaches to conceptualizing and measuring human life stress. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.* 4:33–52
- Monroe SM, Slavich GM, Georgiades K. 2009. The social environment and life stress in depression. In *Handbook of Depression*, ed. IH Gotlib, CL Hammen, pp. 340–60. New York: Guilford Press
- Morris JK, Cook DG, Shaper AG. 1994. Loss of employment and mortality. Br. Med. J. 308:1135-39
- Murphy MLM, Slavich GM, Chen E, Miller GE. 2015. Targeted rejection predicts decreased antiinflammatory gene expression and increased symptom severity in youth with asthma. *Psychol. Sci.* 26: 111–21
- Murphy MO, Loria AS. 2017. Sex-specific effects of stress on metabolic and cardiovascular disease: Are women at a higher risk? *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 313:R1–9
- Norman RE, Byambaa M, De R, Butchart A, Scott J, Vos T. 2012. The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLOS Med.* 9:e1001349
- Ockenfels MC, Porter L, Smyth J, Kirschbaum C, Hellhammer DH, Stone AA. 1995. Effect of chronic stress associated with unemployment on salivary cortisol: overall cortisol levels, diurnal rhythm, and acute stress reactivity. *Psychosom. Med.* 57:460–67
- Pearlin LI, Schieman S, Fazio EM, Meersman SC. 2005. Stress, health, and the life course: some conceptual perspectives. *J. Health Soc. Behav.* 46:205–19
- Pedersen A, Zachariae R, Bovbjerg DH. 2010. Influence of psychological stress on upper respiratory infection: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Psychosom. Med.* 72:823–32
- Rabkin JG, Struening EL Jr. 1976. Life events, stress, and illness. Science 194:1013-20
- Repetti RL, Taylor SE, Seeman TE. 2002. Risky families: family social environments and the mental and physical health of offspring. *Psychol. Bull.* 128:330–66
- Roberts BW, Kuncel NR, Shiner R, Caspi A, Goldberg LR. 2007. The power of personality: the comparative validity of personality traits, socioeconomic status, and cognitive ability for predicting important life outcomes. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 2:313–45
- Rook KS. 1998. Investigating the positive and negative sides of personal relationships: through a glass darkly? In *The Dark Side of Close Relationships*, ed. BH Spitzberg, WR Cupach, pp. 369–93. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum
- Rook KS. 2014. The health effects of negative social exchanges in later life. Generations 38:15-23
- Rosengren A, Orth-Gomer K, Wedel H, Wilhelmsen L. 1993. Stressful life events, social support, and mortality in men born in 1933. *Br. Med.* 7. 307:1102–5
- Rozanski A, Blumenthal JA, Kaplan J. 1999. Impact of psychological factors on the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and implications for therapy. *Circulation* 99:2192–217
- Sandberg S, Järvenpää S, Penttinen A, Paton JY, McCann DC. 2004. Asthma exacerbations in children immediately following stressful life events: a Cox's hierarchical regression. *Thorax* 59:1046–51

- Sandberg S, Paton JY, Ahola S, McCann DC, McGuinness D, et al. 2000. The role of acute and chronic stress in asthma attacks in children. *Lancet* 356:982–87
- Schulz R, Decker S. 1985. Long-term adjustment to physical disability: the role of social support, perceived control, and self-blame. 7. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 48:1162–72
- Schulz R, Rau MT. 1985. Social support through the life course. In Social Support and Health, ed. S Cohen, SL Syme, pp. 129–49. Cambridge, MA: Academic
- Shalowitz MU, Berry CA, Rasinski KA, Dannhausen-Brun CA. 1998. A new measure of contemporary life stress: development, validation, and reliability of the CRISYS. Health Serv. Res. 33:1381–402
- Shively CA, Clarkson TB. 1994. Social-status and coronary-artery atherosclerosis in female monkeys. Arterioscler. Thromb. 14:721–26
- Shor E, Roelfs DJ, Curreli M, Clemow L, Burg MM, Schwartz JE. 2012. Widowhood and mortality: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Demography* 49:575–606
- Skantze HB, Kaplan J, Pettersson K, Manuck S, Blomqvist N, et al. 1998. Psychosocial stress causes endothelial injury in cynomolgus monkeys via β1-adrenoceptor activation. *Atherosclerosis* 136:153–61
- Sklar LS, Anisman H. 1981. Stress and cancer. Psychol. Bull. 89:369-406
- Slavich GM, Irwin MR. 2014. From stress to inflammation and major depressive disorder: a social signal transduction theory of depression. Psychol. Bull. 140:774–815
- Slavich GM, Shields GS. 2018. Assessing lifetime stress exposure using the Stress and Adversity Inventory for Adults (Adult STRAIN): an overview and initial validation. Psychosom. Med. 80:17–27
- Sneed RS, Cohen S. 2014. Negative social interactions and incident hypertension among older adults. Health Psychol. 33:554–65
- Steinberg JS, Arshad A, Kowalski M, Kukar A, Surna V, et al. 2004. Increased incidence of life-threatening ventricular arrhythmias in implantable defibrillator patients after the World Trade Center attack. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 44:1261–64
- Steptoe A, Kivimaki M. 2012. Stress and cardiovascular disease. Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 9:360-70
- Steptoe A, Kivimaki M. 2013. Stress and cardiovascular disease: an update on current knowledge. Annu. Rev. Public Health 34:337–54
- Taylor SE. 2010. Mechanisms linking early life stress to adult health outcomes. PNAS 107:8507–12
- Taylor SE, Klein LC, Lewis BP, Gruenewald TL, Gurung RAR, Updegraff JA. 2000. Biobehavioral responses to stress in females: tend-and-befriend, not fight-or-flight. *Psychol. Rev.* 107:411–29
- Thurston RC, Matthews KA. 2009. Racial and socioeconomic disparities in arterial stiffness and intima media thickness among adolescents. Soc. Sci. Med. 68:807–13
- Trichopoulos D, Katsouyanni K, Zavitsanos X, Tzonou A, Dallavorgia P. 1983. Psychological stress and fatal heart-attack: the Athens 1981 earthquake natural experiment. *Lancet* 1:441–44
- Turner RJ, Wheaton B. 1995. Checklist measurement of stressful life events. See Cohen et al. 1995a, pp. 29–58 Turner RJ, Wheaton B, Lloyd DA. 1995. The epidemiology of social stress. *Am. Sociol. Rev.* 60:104–25
- Wegman HL, Stetler C. 2009. A meta-analytic review of the effects of childhood abuse on medical outcomes
- in adulthood. *Psychosom. Med.* 71:805–12
- Wethington E, Brown GW, Kessler RC. 1995. Interview measurement of stressful life events. See Cohen et al. 1995a, pp. 59–79
- Wright RJ, Rodriguez M, Cohen S. 1998. Review of psychosocial stress and asthma: an integrated biopsychosocial approach. *Thorax* 53:1066–74
- Wrosch C, Bauer I, Miller GE, Lupien S. 2007. Regret intensity, diurnal cortisol secretion, and physical health in older individuals: evidence for directional effects and protective factors. *Psychol. Aging* 22:319–30